
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 10.30 AM ON TUESDAY, 11 JULY 2017
IN WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS LS1 2DE

A G E N D A

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 28 APRIL 2017
(Pages 1 - 4)

5.5. EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS
Members will be given a presentation from Steph Burras, Chair of the Employment & 
Skills Panel.
(Pages 5 - 28)

6. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE'S SEP DELIVERY WORKING GROUP 
- FEEDBACK AND RECOMMENDATIONS
(Pages 29 - 34)

7. LOAN TO OXFORD GB2 (LEEDS HILTON)
(Pages 35 - 36)

8. WYCA FORWARD PLAN
(Pages 37 - 44)

9. WYCA CORPORATE PLAN
(Pages 45 - 62)

10. WYCA BRAND IDENTITY
(Pages 63 - 72)



11. WYCA ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY
(Pages 73 - 82)

12.12. DEVOLUTION
A verbal update will be given.

13. ITEMS FOR FEEDBACK TO WYCA

Signed:

WYCA Managing Director



 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

HELD ON FRIDAY, 28 APRIL 2017 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON 
HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

Present:
Councillor Robert Light (Chair) Kirklees Council
Councillor Stephen Baines Calderdale Council
Councillor James Baker Calderdale Council
Councillor Ian Cuthbertson City of York Council
Councillor Michael Ellis Bradford Council
Councillor Peter Harrand Leeds City Council
Councillor Fozia Shaheen Bradford Council

In attendance:
Councillor Peter Box Chair, WYCA (to minute 64)
Ben Still WYCA
Caroline Allen WYCA
James Flanagan WYCA
Ruth Chaplin WYCA

60.  1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B Boyce, J Brooks, D Foster, 
K Groves, M Isherwood, A Manifield, N Mohammed, J Pryor and B Rhodes

61.  1. Declarations of Interest

Councillor Ellis declared an interest as he is a member of the Regional Flood and 
Coastal Committee and Airedale Drainage Commission.

62.  1. Exclusion of the Press and Public

There were no items on the agenda requiring exclusion of the press and public.

1

Agenda Item 4



63.  1. Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 March 2017

Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 2017 be approved 
and signed by the Chair.

64.  1. Devolution Update

The Chair welcomed Councillor Peter Box to the meeting and he provided members 
with an overview of the progress and challenges in securing an ambitious, 
economically-led mayoral devolution deal for Leeds City Region. 

Councillor Box outlined the various policy options for a mayoral devolution deal 
which had been considered by WYCA on 2 February 2017.   WYCA had requested a 
formal response from Government on the proposal for a Leeds City Region deal 
which was submitted to HM Treasury in September 2015, with a view to agreeing a 
way forward.  Councillor Box advised members of correspondence with the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government and of a subsequent 
meeting held with Yorkshire’s Leaders on 9 March 2017.  The Secretary of State had 
requested that options be put to central government based on the guiding 
principles outlined in his letter, followed by an early meeting with a view to 
concluding a deal as soon as possible this year.  It was acknowledged that the 
announcement of the General Election on 8 June 2017 would impact on this but 
Councillor Box stressed that a meeting would be sought with the Secretary of State 
at the earliest opportunity.

Councillor Box commented that Leeds City Region had secured the biggest Growth 
Deal in the country, established the £1bn West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund and 
agreed a non-mayoral devolution deal.    However it was recognised that without a 
mayoral deal the future funding and delivery of local growth programmes and 
investments could become more problematic and the areas which had secured 
deals with directly elected ‘metro’ Mayors would benefit from enhanced funding 
opportunities and devolved and delegated decision making.

Members discussed the geographic footprint proposals and Councillor Box 
confirmed he would be prepared to support a mayoral deal for the City Region 
based on the Government’s formal agreement to the ‘asks’ submitted to HM 
Treasury in September 2015 and that WYCA would consider supporting a deal 
based on a bigger geography but subject to making a robust business and economic 
case.  Councillor Box stressed that Government had to be fair and even-handed in 
its approach to devolution.  For example in explaining why a type of deal agreed to 
in one area could not be permitted in another.

Councillor Box was thanked for attending the meeting and for the informative 
discussion.  The Committee would continue to be kept informed of any further 
developments.  

Resolved:  That the current progress in respect of securing a devolution deal for the 

2



Leeds City Region be noted. 

65.  1. Governance Arrangements

The Committee considered a report which sought members’ views on the 
governance arrangements which had been considered and approved by WYCA at its 
meeting held on 6 April 2017.

Members welcomed the proposals outlined in the report which was attached at 
Appendix A.  It was proposed to integrate LEP Panels into WYCA’s decision making 
structure with the first cycle of new advisory committees to commence in 
September.  The LEP Board would be asked to agree the revised committee 
arrangements including a proposal to appoint 2 non-voting private sector 
representatives to the Transport Committee at their next meeting.  

It was noted that the Committee had previously discussed the changes to 
governance arrangements required by Order of the Secretary of State in respect of 
Overview & Scrutiny arrangements and these would take effect from 8 May 2017.  
Members highlighted the changes which affected the quorum for the Committee 
and the need to ensure that two thirds of the membership would need to be in 
attendance at future meetings.  They asked that this be brought to the attention of 
the District Council Leaders and Chief Whips of all their political parties before their 
Annual Meetings.

Resolved:  

(i) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committee endorse the proposals outlined in 
the report to be considered by the LEP Board and WYCA.

(ii) That the forthcoming changes to the quorum of the Committee be brought 
to the attention of the District Council Leaders and Chief Whips of all their 
political parties.

66.  1. Items for Feedback to WYCA

It was requested that WYCA be advised that the Committee welcomed the 
proposals in respect of the revised governance arrangements.

3



This page is intentionally left blank



Director: Sue Cooke
Author: Michelle Burton

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 11 July 2017

Subject: Employment and Skills achievements and forward plan

1 Purpose

1.1 To update the Committee on the programme of work overseen by the Employment 
and Skills Panel and seek their views on forward plans.

2 Information

2.1 The Employment and Skills Panel oversees programmes intended to meet future job 
demands and to enable people from all communities in the city region to secure 
more and better jobs. 

2.2 The Panel includes the following Local Authority members:

Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe - Bradford Council
Cllr Cliff Lunn - North Yorkshire County Council              
Cllr Mohammed Rafique - Leeds City Council
Cllr Carol Runciman - City of York Council                          
Cllr Dan Sutherland - Calderdale Council

The Panel is also attended by Merran McRae, Chief Executive of Wakefield Council, as 
lead Chief Executive for Skills.

2.3 A copy of the LCR Employment and Skills Plan 2016-20 is attached at Appendix 1.   

2.3 Stephanie Burras, Chair of the Employment and Skills Panel and member of the LEP 
Board, will attend the meeting to deliver a presentation and to seek the Committee’s 
views.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 None. 

4 Legal Implications

4.1 None.

5

Agenda Item 5



5 Staffing Implications

5.1 None.

6 External Consultees

6.1 None.

7 Recommendations

7.1 The Committee is asked to note the presentation and to comment on current and 
planned activity.

8 Background Documents

8.1 None.  

6



7

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



Director: Rob Norreys, Director Policy, 
Strategy & Communications
Author: Marc Eatough, Policy Manager

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 11 July 2017

Subject: Feedback from the Overview & Scrutiny SEP Working Group

1. Purpose

1.1 To consider feedback from the Overview and Scrutiny’s Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 
Delivery Working Group in respect of SEP delivery. 

1.2 To provide an opportunity to comment on proposed recommendations arising from 
the SEP Delivery Working Group and any further work that is needed to improve SEP 
delivery.

2. Information

Background 

2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting of 13 July 2016 agreed to establish 
two working groups to focus on the SEP and the Transport Strategy to ensure they 
are delivered effectively. It was agreed that up to four Members be involved in each 
group and volunteers were identified. It was also agreed that the two groups would 
report back to the Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

2.2 This report provides feedback from the SEP Working Group, including an overview of 
the key actions and activities undertaken by the Working Group between September 
2016 and April 2017. The paper also sets out a number of recommendations for 
potential actions and activities for the Working Group during 2017/18. 

Working Group membership 

2.3 The SEP Delivery Working Group comprised:

• Councillor Stephen Baines, Conservative, Calderdale; 
• Councillor Ian Cuthbertson, Liberal Democrats, York; 
• Councillor Kim Groves, Labour, Leeds; and
• Councillor Paul Kane, Labour, Kirklees.

Working Group Action Plan

2.4 At the first meeting of the Working Group, Members were provided with an overview 
of the SEP and Growth Deal, including the work undertaken to ensure that WYCA and 

29

Agenda Item 6



the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has an appropriate range of 
delivery plans and robust assurance processes in place to ensure that the ambition 
set out in the SEP is met. 

2.5 The first meeting provided the Working Group the opportunity to discuss and identify 
the topics that they were keen to cover in more detail at future meetings, including: 

 how projects are prioritised;
 how business cases are assessed and, once approved, how projects are 

monitored and delivered;
 information to help better understand the impact and value for money of SEP 

interventions; and
 key risks associated with the SEP and how these would be managed.

2.6 These topics formed the basis of a three point Action Plan that was agreed at the 
second meeting of the Working Group:

 Action 1: Officers to provide the Working Group with a briefing on WYCA 
Assurance Framework and its key components, including the Single Appraisal 
Framework (SAF).

 Action 2: The Working Group to provide scrutiny and challenge to the annual 
review process of the WYCA Assurance Framework; and

 Action 3: The Working Group to provide scrutiny of the risk management 
procedures that have been established to oversee the delivery of the SEP and its 
key funding mechanisms such as Growth Deal.

Action 1: (Meeting held on 18 October 2016)

2.7 The Working Group was provided with a briefing paper on the WYCA Assurance 
Framework and its key components. The paper included an overview of: 

 the criteria used by the SAF to assess business cases; and 
 the processes and metrics used to monitor performance and measure value for 

money.

2.8 The Working Group was also provided with the business case and assessment 
paperwork for the Barnsley Town redevelopment scheme. This was to provide 
Members with a more detailed understanding of the process and procedures 
adopted to undertake project appraisal to inform decision makers.  Members 
provided feedback on areas for improvement.

2.9 The Working Group also considered the eligibility and procedures for businesses to 
apply for grants and loans through the Business Growth Programme. Feedback was 
provided on areas for improvement. 

30



Action 2: (Meetings held on 11 January 2017 and 22 February 2017)

2.10 The Working Group provided scrutiny and challenge to the annual review process of 
the WYCA Assurance Framework. Key activities undertaken by the Working Group 
included:

 Reviewing the draft Assurance Framework against Government guidance which 
was circulated to members in advance of the meetings; and

 Providing feedback on the draft documentation, including areas where the 
Assurance Framework could be improved to meet national guidance (e.g. 
transparency of decision making).

2.11 It was agreed at the meeting on 22 February 2017 that this would be a useful 
exercise for the Working Group to undertake on an annual basis, including scrutiny of 
the 2017/18 Action Plan that had been prepared for revised Assurance Framework.

Action 3: (Meetings held on 22 February and 26 April 2017)

2.12 The Working Group was provided with an overview of the Growth Deal strategic risk 
framework, covering both programme and project level risk. Members discussed the 
processes agreed for WYCA to take on Intermediate Body (IB) status in order to 
receive delegated authority from government for Sustainable Urban Development 
(SUD) strategy and programme.  

2.13 The current procedures for the reporting, monitoring and managing of risk were 
discussed. This included an overview of current risk management arrangements and 
the establishment and roles of the Portfolio Management Office (PMO) and the 
Programme Appraisal Team (PAT).   

Other topics discussed

2.14 It is important to note that the Working Group also discussed a number of additional 
topics during the year, including: 

 the potential implications of Brexit on the SEP and associated funding streams 
(e.g. ESIF) and how these would be managed in terms of risk; 

 skills challenges and gaps facing the City Region, ensuring school leavers were 
‘work ready’ and the work Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership and WYCA 
were doing with schools regarding skills; and

 updates on the WYCA organisational design programme.

Proposed activities for Working Group during 2017/18

2.15 As highlighted above the focus of the Working Group’s activities during 2016/17 has 
been on the WYCA Assurance Framework and its key components including the SAF. 

31



2.16 The Working Group has played an important role in providing on-going scrutiny and 
challenge to: (1) annual review process of the Assurance Framework and, (2) the risk 
management procedures that have been established to oversee the delivery of the 
SEP and its key funding mechanisms. 

2.17 The Working Group considered that it would be beneficial to continue this role and 
meet during 2017/18 to undertake the following activities:

 Activity 1: providing scrutiny and challenge to the annual review process of the 
WYCA Assurance Framework; 

 Activity 2: undertaking a periodic review of the strategic risk register, including 
an on-going assessment of whether all risks have been appropriately considered 
and that the procedures in place to mitigate key risks; and

 Activity 3: it was also suggested that the Working Group receive updates on the 
risk register and staffing issues at each meeting. 

2.18 Members were informed that there would be an Independent Panel Review (IPR) of 
the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, with the first review due to take place in 
2019.  The Working Group were keen to be updated on progress of the IPR 
throughout 2017/18.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 None arising directly from this report.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 None arising directly from this report.

6. External Consultees

6.1 None.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes the feedback from the Strategic 
Economic Plan Delivery Working Group and comments on the proposed 
recommendations and any further work that is required to improve SEP delivery 
(paragraph 2.16). 

7.2 That the update in respect of the work of the SEP Delivery Working Group be noted.

32



8. Background Documents

8.1 None.

33



This page is intentionally left blank



Director and author: Angela 
Taylor, Director of Resources

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 11 July 2017

Subject: Loan to Oxford GB2 Leeds Hilton

1 Purpose

1.1 To consider calling in the project for scrutiny.

2 Information

2.1 Members may already be aware of a LEP loan of £4.8m made to Oxford GB2 in 2013 
to enable the construction of a hotel near the Leeds Arena.  In 2015 the company 
went into administration and work on the site ceased.  The loan was made from the 
Growing Places Fund which is designed to support investment in ‘difficult,’ higher risk 
projects.  There have been some notable successes within this portfolio of projects, 
however this particular project has attracted media attention for the stalled project. 

2.2 It is proposed that a small task and finish group, led by the Chair, undertakes a review 
of this project and seeks to understand any lessons learnt.  

3 Financial Implications

3.1 None arising directly from this report. 

4 Legal Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 None arising directly from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 None.

7 Recommendations

7.1 That the Committee agree to establish a task and finish group to consider the Oxford 
GB2 loan.

35

Agenda Item 7



8 Background Documents

8.1 None.

36



Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 11 July 2017

Subject: Forward Programme of Work

1. Purpose

1.1. To consider the work programme for the coming year.

2. Information

2.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has considered a varied programme of work 
over the past year including flood resilience, corporate plan and priorities, NGT, LEP 
priorities, transport priorities, assurance framework, activities of the Investment 
Committee, governance changes and the evaluation of projects.  Additionally 
devolution has been a standing item on each agenda and two task and finish groups 
have considered progress on delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) priorities 
and delivery of the transport strategy.

2.2. The Committee has further meetings scheduled as follows: 20 September, 15 
November, 24 January 2018 and 23 March.

2.3. It is recognised that the work programme should be flexible and able to be 
amended and supplemented as the year progresses. The following items on this 
agenda cover a number of significant items covered at the WYCA meeting of 29 
June which may merit inclusion in the forward programme.  The meeting also 
considered Transport for the North priorities and work on the HS2 growth strategy 
which may also be appropriate matters to scrutinise. A copy of WYCA’s forward 
agenda plan is attached at Appendix 1 for information.  Please note this is a live 
document and is subject to change.

2.4. The Committee is asked to consider items for the coming year as well as whether 
the SEP and transport strategy task and finish groups should be reconvened. The 
reports back from each of the groups have highlighted further areas of work that 
could be considered during the year.

3. Financial Implications

3.1. None arising directly from this report.

Author/Director:  Angela Taylor
Director, Resources

37

Agenda Item 8



4. Legal Implications

4.1. None arising directly from this report.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1. None arising directly from this report.

6. Recommendations

6.1. That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider items to be included in the 
work programme for the coming year.

38



Combined Authority (Forward AgendaPlan)

COMMITTEE DATE:  29 June 2017                                                                      Deadline for publication of Key Decisions:  31 May 2017

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

Revised Committee Arrangements and Appointments Caroline Allen / Liz Davenport No

WYCA Representation on Outside Bodies Liz Davenport / Angie Shearon No

Officer Scheme of Delegation Caroline Allen / Liz Davenport No

Governance Arrangements Caroline Allen / Liz Davenport No

Code of Corporate Governance Angela Taylor No

Members' Allowances Scheme Liz Davenport / Angie Shearon No

Calendar of Meetings 2017/18 Angie Shearon No

Project and Spending Approvals (inc the Leeds Public 
Transport Investment Programme) Melanie Corcoran / Tom Gifford Yes

Corporate Plan and Annual Review Roger Baker No

HS2 Growth Strategy Approval to write a strat, inc mass 
transit Rob Norreys / Liz Hunter Yes

Transport for the North Rob Norreys / Liz Hunter No

WYCA Branding Roger Baker No

WYCA Accommodation Options Angela Taylor Yes

Sustainable Urban Development Heather Waddington Yes

39

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix 1



COMMITTEE DATE:  3 August 2017                                                                     Deadline for publication of Key Decisions:  5 July 2017

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

Project and Spending Approvals  (standard item) Melanie Corcoran Yes

Inclusive Growth May be one report including SEP 
Refresh & IS Green Paper. Ruth Redfearn No

SEP Refresh See note above. Rob Norreys No

Industrial Strategy Green Paper response/update See note above. David Walmsley No

Revised Project Investment Criteria (going to LEP Board 
May) Rob Norreys No

Transport for the North Liz Hunter / Caroline Allen Yes

Transport Strategy adoption Rob Norreys Yes

Bus Strategy adoption Rob Norreys Yes

COMMITTEE DATE:  5 October 2017                                                              Deadline for Publication of Key Decisions: 6 September 2017

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

HS2 Growth Strategy Rob Norreys/Liz Hunter

Passenger Transport Forum Angela Taylor / Rachel Murphy No

Budget Planning Yes

SUD Bid  ???? Angela Taylor/Heather Waddington

40



COMMITTEE DATE:  14 December 2017                                                  Deadline for Publication of Key Decisions:  15 November 2017

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

SUD Bid Angela Taylor/Heather Waddington

COMMITTEE DATE:  1 February 2018                                                                            Deadline for Publication of Key Decisions:  3 January 2018

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

SUD Bid Angela Taylor/Heather Waddington

41



COMMITTEE DATE:  5 April 2018                                                                                     Deadline for Publication of Key Decisions:  7 March 2018

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

SUD Bid Angela Taylor/Heather Waddington

COMMITTEE DATE:  10 May 2018                                                                                      Deadline for Publication of Key Decisions:  11 April 2018

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

SUD Bid Angela Taylor/Heather Waddington

42



COMMITTEE DATE:  28 June 2018 – Annual Meeting                                                    Deadline for Publication of Key Decisions:  30 May 2018

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

Revised Committee Arrangements and Appointments Caroline Allen / Liz Davenport No

WYCA Representation on Outside Bodies Liz Davenport / Angie Shearon No

Officer Scheme of Delegation Caroline Allen / Liz Davenport No

Governance Arrangements Caroline Allen / Liz Davenport No

Code of Corporate Governance Angela Taylor No

Members' Allowances Scheme Liz Davenport / Angie Shearon No

Calendar of Meetings 2018/19 Angie Shearon No

COMMITTEE DATE:  Future Meetings

REPORT TITLE NOTES OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR 
COMPLETING THE DECISION

IS THIS A KEY 
DECISION

Project and Spending Approvals Melanie Corcoran Yes

SEP Refresh Rob Norreys

SUD Bid Angela Taylor/Heather Waddington

43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Director and author: Angela 
Taylor, Director of Resources

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 11 July 2017

Subject: WYCA corporate plan 2017/18

1 Purpose

1.1 To consider the WYCA report on the 2017/18 corporate plan and agree any further 
work arising.

2 Information

2.1 At its meeting on 29 June 2017 WYCA considered a report on the 2017/18 corporate 
plan; it is attached as Appendix 1.  The corporate plan is attached at Appendix 2 and 
sets out the vision for the organisation, provides information on its current shape, 
what has been achieved so far and then looks ahead to the priorities for the next 12 
months.  Key performance indicators that will enable achievement of these priorities 
to be measured are set out on page 23 of the plan.

2.2 WYCA approved the plan and encouraged its dissemination through partner 
authorities and the business community. The Committee is asked to consider if it 
wishes to follow progress against the priorities as part of its forward work plan. 

3 Financial Implications

3.1 None arising directly from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 As set out in the corporate plan.

6 External Consultees

6.1 None.

7 Recommendations

45

Agenda Item 9



7.1 That the Committee note the corporate plan and determine whether this forms part 
of their forward work plan.

8 Background Documents

8.1 None.

46



Director:  Rob Norreys, Director of 
Policy, Strategy and Communications
Author:  Racheal Johnson

Report to: West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Date: 29 June 2017

Subject: WYCA Corporate Plan 2017/18                                                     

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in? ☒ Yes     ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes     ☒ No
If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12a, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1

1. Purpose

1.1 To seek WYCA’s endorsement of the organisation’s Corporate Plan for 2017/18.  

2. Background Information

2.1 Last year the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) produced its first 
Corporate Plan bringing together the transport and economic strands of its work and 
highlighting the organisation’s programme of development.  The document set out 
key achievements and priorities for the 2016/17 financial year. 

2.2 This year, following 12 months of organisational transformation, the Corporate Plan 
focuses on WYCA’s significant programme of project, programme and service 
delivery, and how this is delivering impact for the people, businesses and 
communities of Leeds City Region.  The document sets out what WYCA has achieved 
for local people and business over the last year and what it plans to achieve in the 
year ahead.  The Corporate Plan 2017/18 will follow as a late appendix as design 
work is currently being undertaken on the document.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 The Corporate Plan and associated communications and engagement activities are 
being delivered using largely internal staff resources at minimal financial cost.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 None.

47

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



5. Staffing Implications

5.1 None.

6. Recommendations

6.1 That WYCA endorse the Corporate Plan 2017/18.

7. Appendices

7.1 The WYCA Corporate Plan 2017/18 will follow as a late appendix as design work is 
currently being undertaken on the document.

8. Background Documents

8.1 None.

48



1

West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority
Corporate Plan 2017/18

49

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2



32

Contents
CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

COMBINED VISION

BUILDING OUR ORGANISATION

COMBINED ACTION

LOOKING AHEAD

FINANCE

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

MAP

CONTACT

2

3

4-5

6-7

8-15

16-19

20-21

22-23

24

25

Introduction
AT THE HEART OF THE UK IS  A CITY REGION 
THAT ’S REALLY GOING PLACES
“Our organisation is the driving force behind local partners’ 
collective efforts to make the Leeds City Region known globally 
as a place where everyone can combine economic success 
with an outstanding quality of life. 

Our main goal is ‘inclusive growth’ – ensuring 
the widest range of people and places are able to 
contribute to, and benefit from, economic prosperity. 

Over the last year, on behalf of the Combined Authority and 
LEP Boards, we’ve driven forward projects, programmes and 
services that have had a big impact on the Leeds City Region. 
But this is just the beginning. 

We want to show our partners what we’ve already achieved 
but, more importantly, what we plan to deliver in the next 12 
months and how this will contribute towards inclusive growth 
in the City Region. 

Our plan is ambitious but, working with our partners, we are 
confident that we can continue to deliver at pace to make this 
incredible region an even better place to live, work and do 
business. We hope you’ll join us on this journey.” 

Ben Still, Managing Director of the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority

2 3

50



54

Combined vision
WE WANT LEEDS CITY REGION TO BE RECOGNISED GLOBALLY AS A 
STRONG, SUCCESSFUL ECONOMY WHERE EVERYONE CAN BUILD GREAT 
BUSINESSES, CAREERS AND LIVES.

• Long-term policies and strategies to transform the region, focusing on the   
   things that will have the biggest impact on prosperity and productivity here

• Giving more people in deprived communities access to services 
   and opportunities so growth benefits everyone

• Bringing new investment and decision-making powers into the City Region  
   to put our plans into action

• Providing a strong, collective voice for the City Region nationally and   
   internationally

• Delivering transport and other major infrastructure schemes that create  
   jobs and economic opportunity for all 

• Providing transport and economic services that connect people to jobs and  
   business opportunites and improve quality of life in the City Region

NORTHERN CAPITAL

• A £64.6 billion economy and the biggest economic contributor to the 
   Northern Powerhouse

INNOVATION CAPITAL

• UK’s largest regional financial centre – 6/10 of all foreign exchange      
   transactions worldwide are processed using software developed in 
   Leeds City Region
• More manufacturing jobs than anywhere in the country – with particular   
   strengths in textiles and component manufacturing 
• Over 102,000 people working in digital roles, with a growing digital technology  
   sector worth £6.6 billion
 

HUMAN CAPITAL

• 1.4 million workforce – the largest and fastest growing in the North
• 3 million population – with the most Millennials outside of London
 

TRANSPORT CAPITAL

• Over £155 million Combined Authority transport investment underway or in  
   the pipeline this year
• Around 3.6 million journeys are made on the West Yorkshire public transport  
   network every week
 
 

SOCIAL CAPITAL

• Devolved programmes delivered by our partners have helped significantly   
   reduce youth unemployment across the City Region
• One of the happiest regions in the country – surrounded by three national parks  
   and countryside 
• Leeds was recently ranked the fifth best place to visit in Europe in 2017 by the  
   Lonely Planet

LEEDS CITY REGION:  THE FACTS

5

Leeds City Region is already well known as a great place 
to live and work. By harnessing the combined efforts of 
local councils and businesses, we want to make it known 
globally as a place of inclusive growth where everyone 
has the opportunity to combine economic prosperity with 
an outstanding quality of life, supported by world-class 
connectivity.

The Combined Authority, alongside the Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), and supported by our officer 
organisation, leads this collective vision. The LEP is led 
by business and local authorities, to ensure that our work 
meets the needs of employers in the region and supports 
businesses to grow. We also operate the Metro network of 
bus stations, travel centres and public transport information.

Working with local and national partners we are also 
responsible for the collective action to achieve our vision, 
focusing on those issues that it makes most sense to 
address at the city region level:

51



76

Building our 
organisation
OUR COMBINED AUTHORITY WAS FORMED IN 2014 BUILDING ON 10 
YEARS OF PARTNERSHIP WORKING BETWEEN CITY REGION COUNCILS.
Last year we underwent a major transformation programme - our “One Organisation” programme – 
and begin the 2017-18 financial year with a new organisational structure that will enable us to support 
the Combined Authority and LEP Boards and deliver our priorities effectively and at pace, while 
providing value and transparency to taxpayers.

OUR STRUCTURE:

Our organisation is made up of five teams that reflect the way we now operate as an organisation: 

• Our Policy, Strategy and Communications teams develop the policies and strategies that enable us  
   to determine our priorities for the organisation – and secure the investment to deliver them

• Our Delivery teams deliver the projects set out in our strategies in a consistent, robust and   
   transparent way 

• Our Economic Services and Transport Services teams deliver services to enable people to travel  
   across the region and create new economic opportunities 
    
• Our Resources teams provide crucial support to all teams, without which the above would not 
   be possible

OUR ORGANISATION IN NUMBERS:

470
employees

52%
of our employees 

are female 

48%
of our employees 

are male 

Delivery 

Economic 
Services 

Policy, 
Strategy and 

Comms

Resources

Transport 
Services

Headcount by directorate

50:50 
gender 

balanced 
leadership

team

6 7

£1bn
transport

fund

14,000
bus stops and 

shelters

2,000
businesses 
supported a 

year

£296m+ 
annual budget

Policy, Strategy and
Communications

Transport
Services

Economic
Services

Delivery

£36.7m 
invested 

in learning 
facilities to date

£1bn 
growth deal

Resources

52



98

Combined action
LOOKING BACK:  WHAT WE ACHIEVED OVER THE PAST 12 MONTHS
Last year our corporate priorities focused on three key themes:

• Development: bringing together the right skills and people, creating a single  
   organisational structure to achieve our priorities 

• Delivery: delivering projects and services that support our priorities at an  
   unprecedented scale and pace through our £1 billion Growth Deal and
   £1 billion Transport Fund

• Devolution: securing the further funding and powers to drive prosperity  
   across the region, ensuring that everything we do contributes towards   
   inclusive growth

INSPIRING FUTURE ENTREPRENEURS 

Cheryl Garthwaite of Blacker Hall Farm is one of over 100 Enterprise Advisers we 
recruited to inspire future entrepreneurial talent across Leeds City Region. Four or 
more encounters with business make young people five times less likely to become 
NEET (not in employment, education or training.)

OUR HIGHLIGHTS 2016/17

OPENED TWO NEW TRAIN STATIONS IN THE REGION 
– LOW MOOR IN BRADFORD AND KIRKSTALL FORGE 
IN LEEDS

INVESTED £19 MILLION IN COMMUNITY BUS 
SERVICES

PROVIDED £10 MILLION GRANT INVESTMENT FOR 
SMALL AND MEDIUM SIZED BUSINESSES – SET TO 
CREATE 1 ,340 JOBS 

RECRUITED OVER 100 LOCAL BUSINESS PEOPLE TO 
PROVIDE ADVICE AND INSPIRATION TO 130 SCHOOLS 

SECURED AN ADDITIONAL £67.5 MILLION GROWTH 
DEAL INVESTMENT

53



1110

POLICY, STRATEGY AND 
COMMUNICATIONS
Our Policy, Strategy and Communications teams 
produce the evidence-based economic and 
transport policies that enable us to determine 
our priorities for the region and secure the 
government and European investment to deliver 
them.

NEW INVESTMENT IN JOBS 
AND GROWTH

Through the additional £67.5 million 
Growth Deal investment we secured 
last year we will put in place flood 
resilience packages in Bradford, 
Calderdale, Craven, Kirklees and 
Leeds that will safeguard over 11,000 
jobs and 1,300 businesses.

IN  2016/17 WE:
• secured an additional £67.5 million devolved 
investment from the Government’s Growth Deal 
funding programme and submitted a successful 
bid for £173.5 million Department for Transport 
(DfT) funding to invest in Leeds’s bus, rail and 
road network

• published our Local Transport Plan, setting out 
our vision for a modern, high-class, integrated 
transport system, and published our first Leeds 
City Region flood review, setting out 20 measures 
to minimise the risk of future flooding in the 
region

• reached an estimated 24.5 million people 
in target regional, national and international 
markets and generated close to £1 million worth 
of media coverage for the City Region

• developed the only inclusive growth 
programme in the country - creating 10 practical 
workstreams in partnership with our local 
authorities, business and the third sector  

DELIVERING NEW TRANSPORT 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Kirkstall Forge rail station opened in 
June 2016 providing better transport 
links for this fast-growing housing 
and employment site. The station 
beat its annual forecast in its first five 
months of opening, with over 21,000 
passenger journeys made.

DELIVERY
Our Delivery teams ensure that the major projects 
and schemes we invest in have the biggest 
possible impact on the City Region economy and 
represent value for money. Last year, we agreed 
a new assurance framework with government 
that sets out an improved approach to delivering 
projects in a robust and transparent way. 

IN  2016/17 WE:

• opened two new train stations in the region – 
Low Moor in Bradford and Kirkstall Forge in Leeds 
– as well as 23km of new cycle super-highway 
between Leeds and Bradford 

• helped 732 households in the City Region 
reduce their heating bills by installing energy-
saving measures and provided a further 10,483 
homes with superfast broadband access

• invested £8.5 million in new, world-class 
learning facilities at FE colleges in Bradford, 
Kirklees and Calderdale

54



1312

ECONOMIC SERVICES
Our Economic Services teams help to create jobs 
and new economic opportunities in the region by 
attracting new business investment, supporting 
local firms to grow and by investing in skills 
development and apprenticeships.

IN  2016/17 WE:
• supported over 2,000 small and medium-sized 
businesses in the region to grow through the LEP 
Growth Service, and provided £10 million grant 
investment that’s set to create 1,340 jobs

• recruited 109 local business people to act 
as “Enterprise Advisers”, providing advice and 
inspiration to 130 schools resulting in 9,078 
employer encounters for young people
 
• brought 21 inward investment projects into the 
region – including major investments by Legal 
and General in Selby, Perform Group in Leeds and 
Geoban in Bradford – creating almost 700 jobs

THE NORTH’S LEADING 
INWARD INVESTMENT 
DESTINATION

Legal & General Capital chose Selby 
to launch their innovative new 
housing business, Legal & General 
Homes. Their modular homes 
construction factory, the largest in 
the world, will help to address the UK 
housing crisis and create over 400 
jobs in the area. 

TRANSPORT SERVICES
Our Transport Services teams make sure that 
people can get to work and travel across the 
region easily and affordably on high quality public 
transport. They also look after our 12 bus stations 
in Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and 
Wakefield.

IN  2016/17 WE:
• served over 1.9 million customers at our Metro-
branded travel centres across West Yorkshire

• supported inclusive growth by investing £19 
million in community bus services

• provided essential travel information, accessed 
by 2.5 million people every month

CONNECTING 
COMMUNITIES

We’ve improved the Hebden Bridge 
and Todmorden local minibus network 
to better meet the needs of the 
community. New destinations and 
environmentally friendly buses have 
been added to the service increasing 
passenger numbers by 35%. 

Click here to find out more about our Temple 
Green Park and Ride service

Click here to find out how we’ve helped Wakefield-
based business, Eric Richmond Limited

55



1514

A PARTNERSHIP 
ORGANISATION FOR THE 
FUTURE

We’ve worked with our Board 
members, Chief Executives and over 
180 members of staff to develop a 
new set of values and behaviours to 
ensure our approach is transparent 
and partner focussed.

RESOURCES
Our Resources teams provide the crucial legal, 
financial, HR, technology and other corporate 
support, without which our wider work supporting 
the Leeds City Region economy would not be 
possible.

IN  2016/17 WE: 
• oversaw the One Organisation transformation 
programme and supported the organisation-wide 
restructure 

• shaped new values and behaviours for the 
organisation that will guide how we work with our 
customers, our partners and each other from now 
on

Championing 
the region 

Easy to do 
business with 

Positive about 
change

Working 
together 

Working 
intelligently 

OUR VALUES:

“Secur ing the tools  to  ra ise our 
own investment  and take decis ions 
local ly  about  how to  spend th is  is 
the best  way to  achieve inclusive 

growth that  works for  al l  our 
res idents  and communit ies . This 
is  why ensur ing our  C i ty  Region 

feels  the benef i t  of  ful l ,  meaningful 
devolut ion remains a  top pr ior i ty 

for  us in  the year  ahead.”
Cllr Peter Box, Chair of the Combined Authority and Leader of 

Wakefield Council 

15

56



1716

Ensure that inclusive growth is embedded in all of our policies and 
strategies and putting ourselves at the forefront of developing a local 
response to the Government’s Industrial Strategy – setting out how 
Leeds City Region will help drive the UK’s prosperity and productivity

Do all that we can to help secure a devolution deal encompassing 
our City Region and provide a strong national and international voice 
for the region’s interests

Use evidence and data to shape our work – including a new 
transport vision for Leeds City Region – and influence the work 
of other bodies, such as Transport for the North and the Northern 
Powerhouse

POLICY, STRATEGY AND COMMUNICATIONS

Ensure that all of our projects have strong governance and clear, 
deliverable plans – with five major transport infrastructure 
projects starting on the ground in the next 12 months

Put in place resources in our project delivery teams to support our 
own and our partners’ programmes – including sharing resources 
across our partnership network to deliver value for money as well 
as better outcomes

Deliver the £173.5 million package of Leeds transport 
improvements – with £21 million to be spent in the next 12 months 

Click here to see what other transport investment is underway and 
being sought for Leeds City Region

DELIVERY

Looking ahead 
OUR PRIORITIES OVER THE NEXT 12 MONTHS
In 2017/18 we will move further towards making our vision of inclusive growth a reality, by 
ensuring that all of our programmes and services have an emphasis on addressing poverty and 
deprivation, focusing on people as well as physical infrastructure schemes.

We will be innovative in our approach to transport services, looking beyond existing support for fixed 
bus and rail services and instead at how we can give people greater choice and flexibility in the way 
they travel across the region.

And we will widen our approach to economic productivity, looking at how investment in areas such as 
culture, tourism and sport benefits our economy.

Underpinning all of this is the continued need for further devolution of government spending and 
decision-making to our local area – giving us longer-term, flexible funding streams and the ability to 
direct this towards those areas that will offer the greatest benefits to local people and our economy.

OUR KEY PRIORITIES 2017/18 

• Do all that we can to help secure a devolution deal encompassing our 
   City Region 

• Deliver inclusive growth in all that we do; addressing poverty, social   
   exclusion and inequality

• Ensure that all of our projects have strong governance and clear,   
   deliverable plans  

• Strengthen our business growth offer - focusing particularly on innovation,  
   productivity and digital

• Continue our progress towards a more efficient and customer-focused  
   smart ticketing system for our public transport network 

• Develop a clearer, stronger brand identity for the organisation that    
   supports our ambitions of raising the City Region’s profile nationally 
   and internationally 

57



1918

Complete the restructuring of our organisation, moving to leaner, 
more flexible structures that will help us deliver our priorities 
while also representing value for money to taxpayers

Developing a clearer, stronger brand identity for the organisation 
that supports our ambitions of raising the City Region’s profile 
nationally and internationally to attract investment and jobs

Putting in place an office accommodation strategy that will enable 
us to provide a good quality, customer-friendly and resource-
efficient office HQ

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

Plan the next steps for our Access Bus and education services 
into a fuller “mobility as a service” package, giving people greater 
choice and flexibility in how they travel within the region

Continue our progress towards a more efficient and customer-
focused smart ticketing system for our public transport network

Make our back-office and call centre services more efficient to 
reduce costs and deliver better economic, social and connectivity 
outcomes

TRANSPORT SERVICES

Focus our skills and education services towards inclusive growth, 
giving more people skills for jobs growth in digital, engineering, 
health and infrastructure, especially targeting those at greatest 
disadvantage

Strengthen our business growth offer - focusing particularly on 
innovation, productivity and digital - and invest more of our capital 
grant programme in growing businesses that also contribute to 
social value by giving back opportunities to local communities

Attract more inward investment to the region and enable firms to 
take greater advantage of overseas trade opportunities beyond 
the EU, working closely with the Department for International Trade, 
Chambers of Commerce and other partners

Click here to hear why businesses are choosing to invest in Leeds 
City Region

ECONOMIC SERVICES

58



2120

Combined prosperity
WHERE OUR FUNDING 
COMES FROM 

HOW WE ARE SPENDING 
IT IN 2017/18

ECONOMY -  £18 MILLION 
• Business, skills and enterprise – £17m 
• Trade and investment - £1m 

INFRASTRUCTURE -  £149 MILLION 
• Business and skills infrastructure – £41m 
• Energy resilience – £3m 
• Housing infrastructure – £5m 
• Flooding resilience - £6m
• Transport infrastructure - £94m

WHAT WE’LL DELIVER 
IN 2017/18 

GROWTH DEAL -  £100 MILLION

TRANSPORT LEVY -  £95 MILLION 

PRE-PAID TICKETS -  £30 MILLION

LEEDS PUBLIC TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME -  £21 MILLION

OTHER ECONOMIC FUNDING – £17 MILLION

OTHER TRANSPORT FUNDING -  £15 MILLION 

LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN -  £13 MILLION 

OTHER -  £4 MILLION (RAIL  GRANT, ENTERPRISE ZONE RECEIPTS, USE OF RESERVES ETC) 

LEP FUNDING -  £1 MILLION

WHAT THIS 
MEANS

CORPORATE
• Additional investment for economic and   
   transport projects

• Increased national and regional media   
   coverage for the City Region

INFRASTRUCTURE 
• 8 transport and other infrastructure   
   projects completed

• 17 schemes progressing from    
   development to delivery, in addition to the  
   21 schemes already being delivered 

• £100m Growth Deal funding invested 

ECONOMY
• 2,500 local businesses supported to grow

• 1,550 jobs created and 500 safeguarded   
   through inward investment and   
   business growth 

• 160 business-school links forged ensuring  
   all students can access economic opportunites

TRANSPORT
• Greater value for money in our  
   transport services

• £30.5m revenue from MCard sales

• Develop our services to better meet the   
   needs of our communities

INCLUSIVE 
GROWTH IN 
LEEDS CITY 

REGION 

CORPORATE -  £16 MILLION 
• Corporate costs - £9m 
• Financial charges - £7m

TRANSPORT -  £113 MILLION 
• Statutory concessions - £45m
• Pre-paid tickets - £30m
• Other concessions £11m
• Bus services – £18m 
• Rail services – £1m 
• Passenger services – £8m 

TA
RG

ET
ED

 IN
VE

ST
M

EN
T 

AN
D 

GR
AN

TS

DI
SC

RE
TI

ON
AR

Y

NO
N-

DI
SC

RE
TI

ON
AR

Y

TOTAL:  £296 MILLION TOTAL:  £296 MILLION

59



2322

“Over  the past  year, we have begun 
to  del iver  at  a  scale  and pace 

unprecedented in  over  12 years  of 
partnership working between Ci ty 
Region counci ls  and businesses. 

We’ve bui lt  new ra i l  s tat ions 
and highways, provided young 

people with world-class col lege 
infrastructure and supported small 
businesses to  grow and create jobs 

with much more to  come in  the 
year  ahead.”

Roger Marsh OBE, Chair of the Leeds City Region Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and Combined Authority Board Member

22

Our key performance 
indicators (KPIs)

POLICY, STRATEGY AND COMMS
Percentage increase in digital presence and reach across our channels
Estimated advertising value equivalent (AVE) of media coverage

DELIVERY  
Actual spend vs planned spend (Growth Deal)
Percentage of schemes with identified programme funding progressing 
from Expression of Interest to (activity one)  Combined Authority 
decision point two within three months
Number of ‘live’ projects in the Assurance Process

TRANSPORT SERVICES 
Average cost per mile of tendered bus services
Percentage of concessionary passes ordered online
Percentage of MCard ticket sales via travel centre alternatives
Online interactions/enquiries as a proportion of total
Value of MCard sales 
Satisfaction with passenger information (Annual Tracker Survey

ECONOMIC SERVICES 
Number of businesses that want to grow receiving support
Average cost per job created in businesses receiving capital investment
Proportion of businesses supported by the Growth Service likely or very 
likely to recommend it 
Number of pupils from most deprived wards engaged through delivery 
of enhanced enterprise, employability and careers activity
Number of businesses supported to offer apprenticeships
Number of strategic links made between businesses and schools
Jobs created or safeguarded as a result of inward investment 
successes
Number of additional active exporters

RESOURCES 
Average time per transaction (requisitions/invoices /purchase invoice 
paid)
Number of apprentices working for the Combined Authority
Development review completion rate
Website availability

 TARGET
500%

£2 million

TARGET
Within 10%

90%

Monitor only

TARGET 
£1.74

65% 
70% 
97%

£30.5m 
8.2 

TARGET 
2,500

£12,500
80%

6,000

1,000
160

1,000

100

TARGET
3 days/ 100% 

11
100%

98% 

60



2524

LONDON

THE NORTHERN 
POWERHOUSE

YORKSHIRE

LEEDS CITY 
REGION

LEEDS CITY REGION:  THE POWER BEHIND THE POWERHOUSE Find out more

WWW.WESTYORKS -CA .GOV.UK
TWITTER:  @WESTYORKSHIRECA

ENQUIRIES@WESTYORKS -CA .GOV.UK
+44 (0)  113 251 7272

Sue Cooke
Executive Head of

Economic Services

Rob Norreys
Director of Policy, Strategy 

and Communications

Dave Pearson
Director of

Transport Services

Angela Taylor
Director of Resources

Ben Still
Managing Director 

Melanie Corcoran
Director of Delivery

61



26
62



Director and author: Angela 
Taylor, Director of Resources

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 11 July 2017

Subject: WYCA brand identity

1 Purpose

1.1 To consider the WYCA report on brand identity and agree any further work arising.

2 Information

2.1 At its meeting on 29 June 2017 WYCA considered a report on brand identity; the 
report is attached as Appendix 1.  It sets out the case for a clearer and more 
consistent brand identity, recognising that the current logo was only ever envisaged 
to be temporary.  The report proposes that the organisation is rebranded as Leeds 
City Region Combined Authority, reflecting the scope of many of the Authority’s 
services, funding and projects.  The recommendations as set out in the report were 
not approved at this time, with the prevailing view being that the devolution agenda 
should be the priority with rebranding and a name change accompanying the new 
organisation with new powers and resources from a successful devolution deal.  

2.2 The Committee is asked to consider the implications of the report and next steps.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 None arising directly from this report. 

4 Legal Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 WYCA project staff will be involved in progressing this work.

6 External Consultees

6.1 As set out in the attached report.

63

Agenda Item 10



7 Recommendations

7.1 That the Committee note the work on rebranding the organisation and determine 
whether and how this forms part of their forward work plan.

8 Background Documents

8.1 None.

64



Director:   Rob Norreys, Director of 
Policy, Strategy and Communications
Author:   Racheal Johnson

Report to: West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Date: 29 June 2017

Subject: A Clearer West Yorkshire Combined Authority Brand Identity

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in? ☒ Yes     ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes     ☒ No
If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12a, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1

1. Purpose

1.1 To set out for the West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s (WYCA) discussion, options 
for a clearer, more compelling brand identity for the organisation and wider region 
that would better enable it to achieve its communications and profile-raising 
objectives. 

1.2 To set out what a potential implementation plan for an organisational rebrand could 
look like, detailing the changes needed to be made to  both communications 
channels and assets and non-communications activities such as processes, systems 
and organisational culture.

2. Background Information

2.1 The West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) was formed in April 2014 by 
bringing together the teams that formerly supported the Passenger Transport 
Executive (Metro), the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership (LEP), the Regional 
Economic and Intelligence Unit of Leeds City Council, and the inward investment 
function of Leeds and Partners. Each of these teams previously operated under its 
own, independent identity. 

2.2 The existing WYCA logo (and its associated communications channels) was developed 
as a temporary identity with the sole purpose of meeting legislative requirements 
around the creation of the WYCA.  Now that the organisation’s remit is more 
established, this identity is no longer fit for purpose in terms of communicating the 
scale of WYCA’s work and investments to local people, partners and government, or 
able to represent and project the region effectively in a competitive national and 
international investment context.

65

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



2.3 Following substantial engagement, stakeholders have commented that WYCA has a 
confused, fragmented identity. This fragmentation is a barrier to achieving WYCA’s 
communications objectives as well as to realising the full benefits of internal culture 
change.  Moreover, it does not represent good value to the taxpayer with several 
recent projects/ campaigns having developed separate brands and channels at extra 
cost due to the absence of an effective, flexible corporate identity.

2.4 Developing a more strategic, coherent WYCA brand identity has therefore been 
identified as a key element of WYCA’s One Organisation change programme. The 
primary objectives of this piece of work are to: 

1)  improve external perceptions of the organisation and region among local, 
national and international audiences in terms of: attracting a greater share of 
business investment to the region, strengthening its reputation among government 
and partner organisations, and enhancing local people’s understanding of councils’ 
partnership working via the WYCA.

2)  contribute significantly to the successful realisation of the One Organisation 
programme by developing a clear, consistent understanding of the organisation’s 
purpose and activities among employees and partners, and acting as a catalyst for 
internal culture change. 

3)  achieve cost savings and greater communications impact through fewer brands.

2.5 The scope of this piece of work is to achieve the above objectives. It does not imply 
any changes to political or corporate governance, which is being explored as part of a 
separate workstream.

3. Project progress to date

3.1 At the initial phase of this project, comprehensive research was carried out –  
including benchmarking the WYCA against other combined authorities nationally and 
internationally, an audit of existing communications activity by the organisation, and 
substantial engagement with audiences including elected members, local authority 
Chief Executives, private sector business leaders, central government officials, 
partner organisations and WYCA employees. 

3.2 Summary outcomes of research and stakeholder engagement:  the research and 
stakeholder engagement phase highlighted the following issues/ opportunities:

 The current WYCA logo and its associated communications channels do not 
benchmark well against other combined authority identities nationally or 
internationally – particularly authorities with a core city of comparable size to 
Leeds.

 Current communications and marketing activity is highly fragmented – with at 
least 30 different brands, sub-brands and campaign identities across the 

66



organisation which make it confusing for customers, partners and other 
audiences to understand what the WYCA does and how it represents value for 
money.

 Stakeholders highlighted that the following issues in particular could be clearer:

o The respective roles of the WYCA and LEP 
o The different geographies represented by the WYCA
o What the WYCA is and does (and does not do) - WYCA is too often 

considered to be just a transport body
o Relationships between its constituent parts
o At a national and international level the West Yorkshire brand is not 

considered to be strong enough

 Businesses cited good levels of awareness of the LEP among the private sector in 
Leeds City Region and the need for a consistent and independent body to 
champion the needs of local firms

 Equally, audience research highlighted high levels of recognition of the Metro 
brand among the travelling public. Even if the full scope of the WYCA’s remit in 
relation to transport is not completely understood, evidence strongly supports 
the view that customers clearly identify the “M” logo with the public transport 
network.

3.3 In response to this research, a new brand platform for the organisation – including 
new vision and mission statements, values and behaviours – was developed to set 
out a clear view of what the organisation is and stands for. This is enclosed at 
Appendix 1.

3.4 Another aspect of the WYCA’s identity that has been considered as part of the 
project – largely due to the concerns highlighted through stakeholder engagement 
around geography and national/ international impact – is its name.

3.5 A number of naming options have been explored, including a Yorkshire-based 
identity (along the lines of Yorkshire Forward) and a neutral identity that does not 
reference geography. These two options have not been taken forward following 
stakeholder testing: it was felt that the former was too reminiscent of previous 
structures, while the latter gave no indication to the remit of the organisation and 
would therefore be difficult and costly to implement. The two options considered to 
be feasible are: 1) maintaining the name West Yorkshire Combined Authority or 2) 
changing the name of the organisation to Leeds City Region Combined Authority. 
Other naming options were considered at an earlier stage of the project but testing 
ruled them out in terms of recognition and suitability.

3.6 Undertaking a rebrand of the organisation under the existing name would have the 
main benefit of making such an exercise simpler and quicker to deliver, however it 
does not address some of the sources of audience confusion highlighted through the 

67



engagement exercise – notably due to different geographies and the lack of clarity 
this creates around products/ services that operate across the City Region. The 
following benefits of a name change to Leeds City Region Combined Authority have 
been identified: 

 Leeds City Region has been the basis for inward investment and place 
marketing since 2011 and during this time, significant improvements in inward 
investment performance have been identified. In 2011 West Yorkshire ranked 
15th in the country for FDI behind the likes of Manchester, Newcastle, 
Birmingham and Tees Valley (source: fDi Intelligence). In May 2017 it was 
announced that the region had recorded the best results for foreign direct 
investment (FDI) for 20 years, and that Leeds City Region now ranks third in 
England  – ahead of any other northern region (source: EY).

 Following substantial engagement with key regional businesses, Leeds is 
considered by those businesses to have stronger recognition and brand 
perception nationally and internationally.  Adding “City Region” enables the 
WYCA, as it does at present, to leverage the strengths of the core city brand while 
also making clear the significant scale, opportunities and assets of the wider 
region, including the USPs and distinct characteristics of Bradford, Wakefield, 
Calderdale, Kirklees, York and the wider region. West Yorkshire meanwhile is felt 
to have more limited recognition and brand perception outside of the region.

 Leeds City Region better reflects the area in which the WYCA operates and 
offers its services. It reflects the functional economic geography, the SEP 
geography, the LEP area, the Growth Deal and Transport Fund geography, the 
ESIF geography, the area covered by current Economic Services products and the 
geography that the WYCA markets nationally and internationally to attract 
inward investment.  West Yorkshire meanwhile, only reflects the former Metro 
footprint for transport services.

 The city region identity is the one used by comparator/ competitor regions 
nationally (such as Greater Manchester, Sheffield City Region and Liverpool City 
Region) and internationally. It is the geographic area that typically forms the basis 
of successful place marketing globally (for example Copenhagen, Amsterdam and 
Helsinki).

 Reaching a timely agreement to present the organisation and wider partnership 
under a Leeds City Region identity would send a clear and confident message to 
the marketplace (notably the private sector) about the clarity of vision and 
strength of partnership working in the City Region and what this is achieving 
building on 13 years of collaborative working.

 It provides a clear, consistent identity for all parts of the organisation to unite 
under, helping to fulfil the objectives of the One Organisation programme and 
drive internal culture change.

68



3.7 Any name change would not suppose any change to CA governance structures/ 
membership, nor to politicians’ continued negotiations around devolution. These 
would continue to be progressed under existing, separate arrangements. 

3.8 Links with other brands: Regardless of which naming approach may be agreed, it is 
proposed that the LEP and Metro brands would be maintained under a wider 
Combined Authority umbrella brand, acknowledging their unique roles and high 
levels of recognition among their respective audiences. Some minor modifications to 
these existing brands would be made as part of a “brand family” approach as and 
when the time was right. Other sub-branded projects/ campaigns would be reviewed 
with the aim of reducing the number of these substantially to achieve cost savings. 
The relevant council brand would continue to be the main identity for local residents 
and businesses, with a clear WYCA identity acting as a focal point for 
communications about City Region partnership working.  The diagram in Appendix 2 
illustrates the proposed relationships between brands.

3.9 Example visuals of what a Leeds City Region Combined Authority could look like are 
enclosed at Appendix 3 for WYCA’s consideration.

3.10 The proposed visuals are based on a font that would be unique to the WYCA. This 
approach is expected to realise the following benefits:

 cost effectiveness in terms of implementation – a font-based approach 
could be rolled out across the WYCA’s various channels using largely internal 
resources with more limited design input required

 longer-term cost savings by creating a consistent campaign style that could 
be applied to campaigns targeting various audiences and, again, largely 
delivered in-house. The font-based approach is expected to save the WYCA at 
least £20,000 per year once rolled out on the basis of issuing four fewer 
campaign briefs to external design agencies per year

 flexibility to accommodate the changing needs of the organisation – 
including potential further changes in remit and/ or governance. The font 
could be applied regardless of whether a name change is agreed or if West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority remains the organisation’s name.

 enhanced profile for the organisation and its partners through use of a 
consistent, bespoke font across all WYCA communications that would, over 
time, promote brand recognition among target audiences.

3.11 It is proposed that roll-out of the any new brand identity would be done through a 
phased approach to minimise costs. An illustrative roll-out plan is enclosed at 
Appendix 4. Roll-out activities would not only cover communications-related activity 
such as changes to websites, social media and other channels/ assets but activities to 
promote culture change such as new training and appraisal processes incorporating 
new brand values and behaviours, changes to processes and systems including email 
signatures, and improvements to office accommodation, front of house and facilities.

69



4. Financial Implications

4.1 All costs associated with the development of any brand identity and its rollout – 
regardless of whether a name change is pursued or the organisation remains West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority – would be met from within existing, business-as-
usual budgets. 

4.2 Once rolled out, a brand identity developed in line with the principles set out in 
section 3 above would be expected to achieve cost savings by reducing radically the 
number of sub-branded campaigns and services within the organisation, and 
enabling a greater number of campaigns to be delivered using internal staff resource 
with existing designs and collateral

4.3 A conservative savings estimate on the basis of issuing four fewer campaign briefs 
per year to external communications agencies is that £20,000 would be saved 
annually. It is expected therefore that investment in a new identity in line with the 
principles in section 3 above would pay back within the first year following 
implementation.

5. Legal Implications

5.1 If the WYCA wishes to pursue a name change, consideration would need to be given 
as to whether this would be a full legal name change or a communications-based 
rebrand only. Under the latter model, the legal name of the organisation would 
remain West Yorkshire Combined Authority for the purpose of contracts, financial 
transactions and other statutory requirements.

5.2 Changing the legal name of the organisation would require WYCA to hold a special 
meeting to resolve to re-name the WYCA as Leeds City Region Combined Authority, 
and notification to be sent to the Secretary of State. 

5.3 A phased approach to a legal name change could also be considered – in other 
words, a communications-based rebrand could be implemented first with a legal 
name change to follow at a later date.

6. Staffing Implications

6.1 Resource from within the WYCA will be required.  The resource required will be a 
project manager, project team members and project board members.  Resource will 
be primarily drawn from the Communications and Marketing team but will also 
require input from colleagues in the Legal and Governance Services, Finance, HR, ICT 
Services, Office Facilities, Delivery and other teams.

6.2 The project is much more than a change of logo.  In order for the rebrand to realise 
its full potential benefits as set out in section 3 above, new ways of working would 
need to be embedded through ongoing culture change.  This would involve 
embedding the agreed values and behaviours through recruitment and performance 

70



management processes, training and development for staff to ensure employees 
embody brand values in their daily work and changes to processes and systems to 
ensure these are in line with the agreed brand values.

6.3 As noted, a legal name change would require additional input from staff – 
particularly from the Legal and Governance Services and Finance teams – however it 
is not expected to result in significant additional costs.  As noted in section four 
above, all costs associated with any rebrand would be met from within existing 
budgets.

7. External Consultees

7.1 Substantial partner and stakeholder engagement was carried out during the initial 
phase of this project, targeting key audience groups including:

 Elected members and senior officers from City Region councils
 LEP Board members
 Business leaders from within the City Region, including recent inward 

investors
 Central government representatives
 Partner organisations including universities, colleges, bus and rail operators 

and business representative bodies
 West Yorkshire Combined Authority employees
 Representatives of customer interests

7.2 A substantial programme of member engagement – including meetings with 
political groups across each of the City Region’s local authorities plus an event for all 
City Region elected members – is proposed over the summer.  WYCA members are 
asked to provide guidance on what shape this should take, for example what 
Overview and Scrutiny arrangements it would wish to put in place around this piece 
of work. 

8. Recommendations

8.1 That WYCA considers and approves the rebranding of itself as Leeds City Region 
Combine Authority, noting the benefits outlined in section 3 above – particularly 
around the opportunities for cost savings, achieving greater communications impact 
through fewer brands, and acting as a catalyst for organisational culture change.

8.2 That WYCA authorises officers to begin work on implementing the rebrand, in line 
with the high-level phased implementation plan enclosed at Appendix 4.

8.3 That WYCA notes and offers comments on the visuals enclosed at Appendix 3 
illustrating what a flexible, font-based approach to visual brand identity could look 
like.

71



8.4 That WYCA notes the proposal to undertake a programme of member engagement 
over the summer and advises on what shape this should take – particularly in terms 
of Overview and Scrutiny arrangements.

9. Appendices

 Appendix 1 – WYCA Brand Platform
 Appendix 2 – Proposed hierarchy of brands
 Appendix 3 - Leeds City Region Combined Authority brand identity – example 

visuals 
 Appendix 4 – Brand rollout project plan 

10. Background Documents

10.1 None.

72



Director and author: Angela 
Taylor, Director, Resources

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 11 July 2017

Subject: WYCA Accommodation strategy

1 Purpose

1.1 To consider the WYCA report on accommodation options and agree any further work 
arising.

2 Information

2.1 At its meeting on 29 June 2017 WYCA considered a report on accommodation 
options for its head office functions.  The report is attached as Appendix 1.  It sets 
out a range of options for providing higher quality fit for purpose office and meeting 
room accommodation in an accessible location.  The recommendations as set out in 
the report were approved and hence the next stage is to undertake detailed 
feasibility work to understand fully whether all requirements can be met through a 
refurbishment of Wellington House and what the cost of that will be.

2.2 The Committee is asked to consider what further information it would like to see as 
this project progresses.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 WYCA has agreed a sum of £100k to progress the feasibility work.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 WYCA project staff will be involved in progressing this work

6 External Consultees

6.1 As set out in the attached report

73

Agenda Item 11



7 Recommendations

7.1 That the Committee note the work on accommodation options and determine 
whether this forms part of their forward plan

8 Background Documents

8.1 None.

74



Director:  Ben Still, Managing 
Director
Author:  Angela Taylor

Report to: West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Date: 29 June 2017

Subject: WYCA Accommodation Options  

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in? ☒ Yes     ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes     ☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12a, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1

1. Purpose

1.1 To provide information on options for the HQ office accommodation for the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) and agree a way forward. 

2. Information

2.1 The Chair of the WYCA asked the Managing Director to look at options for 
accommodation for WYCA to support changing the culture of the organisation and 
providing fit-for-purpose facilities.  This was incorporated into the ‘One Organisation’ 
change programme being run by the Managing Director to create a single 
organisation to meet the needs of the WYCA and the LEP.

2.2 The accommodation challenge facing the WYCA is tricky.  On the one hand the case 
for moving out of WYCA’s current accommodation is compelling, in order to provide 
the right facilities and the right culture for an organisation that is new and needs to 
espouse values of public sector transformation and partnership with the private 
sector.  There is also a need to ensure that the accommodation is readily accessible 
to WYCA and its partners.

2.3 On the other hand, the cost of moving is significant and the value of Wellington 
House has been independently assessed and is less now than when it was purchased 
(due to a lack of investment in the building facilities and fabric).  Independent real 
estate estimates suggest that a sale in the current climate would result in a loss.  
Such a sale would not be prudent, and the building requires very significant 
refurbishment to make it attractive to the current market.  On top of this the 
property values around Wellington House are likely to rise considerably once there is 
more certainty around development opportunities in this part of Leeds.  A wider 

75

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



review of WYCA’s assets and how they are best utilised is underway and Wellington 
House will form an important part of this longer term strategy.

2.4 This paper explores the options open to the WYCA in some depth, and concludes that 
WYCA should look to sell the building when prices rise in the coming years, but in the 
immediate term refurbish the building and remain in situ.

Current Accommodation

2.5 WYCA currently has 3,800 square metres of office accommodation in:

 Wellington House (3,360m2), which it owns, in central Leeds, but which is in a 
poor state – having been under-invested in since the building was purchased in 
1988 for £7m;

 A lease of part of a floor of higher quality office space in City Exchange (450m2) 
above the Trinity Centre in central Leeds.

2.6 366 of WYCA’s staff currently work in central Leeds and the remaining 105 work on 
the transport network, or from home, or at the Authority’s bus stations and travel 
centres in Leeds, Bradford, Dewsbury, Huddersfield, Halifax, Castleford, Pontefract 
and Keighley.  The small office spaces in these bus stations are occupied by bus 
station managers, retail units and partners such as the Police or bus company staff.

2.7 WYCA also currently hosts about 25 staff in Wellington House from the Urban 
Transport Group (UTG), Rail North and Transport for the North (TfN) partners, 
together with visiting staff and suppliers to these organisations.  These partners’ 
contributions offset 7% of the costs of Wellington House.  However, TfN and Rail 
North will be leaving WH by July due to them expanding beyond the available space 
(they are expecting to have about 60 staff in Leeds by year end).

Option Analysis

2.8 There are a number of reasons why WYCA accommodation needs immediate 
attention:

- the split site between Wellington House and City Exchange is hampering our 
ability to build a single culture because of the perpetuation of ‘old’ ways of 
working;

- the lease on City Exchange is coming to an end and a substantive new solution 
needs to be found for the staff there;

- Wellington House is in urgent need of investment – in the facilities (toilets, lifts, 
water supply, ICT), quality of the office environment and furniture, and 
entrance/meeting room quality;

- the shabby nature of Wellington House is contributing to perpetuation of old 
cultures;

76



- with an increasing number of external partnership meetings, the facilities in 
Wellington House (meeting room, webcasting, wifi, break out areas etc) radically 
need improving. 

2.9 There is a further issue to consider in terms of the uncertain future of WYCA in the 
absence of a clear devolution outcome, and whether WYCA will be called upon to 
undertake more (or less) activities.  This uncertainty cannot preclude action (for the 
reasons cited above), but it should mean that any option pursued requires future 
proofing and/or a minimum of risks and constraints.  

2.10 A review of the available options for accommodating WYCA has been carried out 
within the One Organisation Programme, as part of ensuring best use of resources 
and to support the cultural change necessary to develop an effective officer 
organisation for the Authority.  The review considered options against the issues set 
out above, and which led to the following principles: 

 Partnership: The WYCA site needs to be highly accessible to partners from across 
the city region and the north. Initial soundings from Members, stakeholders and 
staff indicates that this requires the public transport accessibility of central Leeds, 
close to the railway station. Leeds is the most accessible point on the public 
transport network, and works for both inter and intra-city region connections.   
Additionally the accommodation has to be ‘owned’ by all partners such that they 
should feel free to use it when they wish and have drop-in provision – an office in 
central Leeds would best fulfil this requirement. 

 Cost minimisation: WYCA does not have any significant reserves that can be 
invested in buildings. However, on top of this the revenue costs of Wellington 
House, of £0.7m pa, are much less than the £2.5m pa that our property advisors 
indicate WYCA would have to pay to lease higher quality accommodation on 
another site in central Leeds.

 New culture: the accommodation should reflect the new values and culture of 
WYCA. 

 Future proofed: an uncertain future means WYCA should avoid locking itself into 
overly constraining leasing or other arrangements. This also requires flexibility in 
the use of space, so that, for example, a Mayor’s office could be created if 
required. 

2.11 A key issue is whether the WYCA HQ functions could be split, e.g. moving ‘back office’ 
functions somewhere cheaper, and hence making savings as a smaller space could be 
used in central Leeds.  However, from the perspective of creating ‘One Organisation’ 
this is not desirable, and the dislocation between City Exchange and Wellington 
House is already impeding the one-culture programme and outwardly confusing the 
relationship between WYCA and LEP. 

2.12 Nevertheless, work has been undertaken to review how many staff need not be 
based in a central location.  Depending on the definition of ‘back office’ this could 
involve relocating approximately 180 staff in service and corporate resources 

77



functions outside of Leeds.  This would still leave some 185 staff needing to be in 
central Leeds, aside from the challenges of achieving joined-up working between 
sites. 

2.13 A second issue arises because WYCA owns Wellington House.  The advice from two 
independent property agents, Lambert Smith Hampton and Savills, is that sale of the 
building in its current condition is likely to realise somewhat less than its book value, 
based on recent sales of similar properties in similar condition in central Leeds.  
Putting this sale value in context, it would be equivalent to only 2.5-3 years of leasing 
costs for a Grade A property of similar size in central Leeds.

2.14 This valuation is significantly below the value of grade-A office accommodation in 
central Leeds, reflecting the awkward nature of the building and site, and the costs of 
major work needed on the building to bring it up to an attractive standard, both with 
regard to the quality of the refurbishment and required works to the fabric of the 
building - a condition survey has indicated that significant investment is required for 
works to the roof, ventilation and other parts of the building.  

2.15 City Exchange will costs WYCA c. £155,000 per annum in rental and other associated 
costs.  In the options City Exchange would be vacated, and the savings used to offset 
future costs. 

    
2.16 Taking these factors into account, the following accommodation options have been 

considered:

 Option A: Sell up, stay in central Leeds  Relocation of all of WYCA into another 
building in central Leeds, and disposal of Wellington House;

 Option B: Sell up, split site  Disposal of Wellington House and a move to a split 
site solution, with a smaller HQ in Leeds and a back office function at a cheaper 
location in Leeds or elsewhere in the city region;

 Option C: Sell up, single site not central Leeds  Relocating WYCA into a single 
building to a cheaper Leeds location or in one or more sites across the other West 
Yorkshire cities, and disposal of Wellington House;

 Option D: Refurbish, sell later   Refurbishing Wellington House to a higher 
standard  to meet the need for more efficient working as far as possible within 
funding available, and consolidating all of WYCA (or the vast majority of staff) on 
this site.

 Option E: Let out Wellington House, move somewhere cheaper.

2.17 Each of the options offers a different mix of benefits and costs. In summary:

 Option A (Sell up, stay in central Leeds) is the best of the available options in 
terms of meeting the quality requirements, is most symbolic of a ‘new start’ for 
the organisation, in the most accessible location, but is the most expensive by a 
significant margin at an extra £1.8m in revenue costs per year, or less if capital 

78



receipts from sale of Wellington House are used to offset the additional leasing 
costs.   This option of selling and moving to better accommodation should 
remain a long term goal, but represents poor value for money at present until 
property values increase, or Wellington House is worth more to let out. 

 Option B (sell up, split site) still involves sizeable additional costs in central Leeds 
as at least 170-185 staff would need to be located there, together with provision 
of significant public meeting space.  There are then the additional costs of the 
lower-cost space alongside the financial issues of selling for a low valuation in 
the current market.  The cost estimate is therefore an additional £1.1m per year.  
As a result, inherently, this is a less attractive and more expensive option than a 
solution involving using Wellington House as the HQ, but significantly cheaper 
than Option A. 

 Option C (Sell up, single site not central Leeds) this option has been explored in 
depth using analysis from Lambert Smith Hampton, which did not find many 
suitable locations that are currently vacant or available.  The option meets some 
of the quality requirements through relocating to a relatively low cost building at 
in Huddersfield or on the York ring road, at an additional revenue cost of 
£0.6 - 0.8m per year.  However, arguably, if WYCA is not in a highly accessible 
location then it will cease to be the place where collaboration and interaction 
takes place.  This neither works for the Boards nor the business. 

 Option D (Refurbish, sell later) is viable for the organisation in the light of TfN/ 
Rail North moving out.  It would enable provision of 375 workstations, which on 
a flexible working and desk-sharing ratio of up to 7 workstations for every 10 
people would enable us to base over 500 staff in Wellington House.  However, it 
will still involve spending c.£4m on a combined programme of refurbishment and 
dilapidations.  Over the longer term, though, this could be the most cost–
effective option, since these additional costs would eventually pay back through 
avoiding the costs of leasing space in City Exchange or elsewhere, and potentially 
more quickly if the market for commercial property in Leeds improves and values 
rise due to HS2.  It also retains the central accessible location.  The compromise 
is quality and a lack of flexibility and facility associated with more modern 
buildings.

 Option E: (Let Wellington House, move somewhere cheaper) both of our 
property advisors do not recommend trying to let the building at the moment, 
because, without investing significantly to raise it to the highest standards, we 
are unlikely to be able to find a tenant in the current market.  The revenue cost 
of a move into leased accommodation compounds the issue of the low value of 
Wellington House.

2.18 The preferred accommodation choice to meet WYCA’s and its partners’ needs is a 
new single site of grade A quality in central Leeds.  This would provide the right 
facilities and the right culture for an organisation that is new and needs to live values 
of public sector transformation and partnership with the private sector.  
Unfortunately the current sale value of Wellington House and WYCA’s financial 
reserves are too low to fund this option.  This option may be more viable within the 

79



next five years as property values rise with the coming of HS2.  Other cheaper sites 
involve compromising on connectivity and a joined-up organisation, and are still 
expensive relative to our current costs.

2.19 The recommended approach is therefore to reach the preferred accommodation 
solution via the interim step of option D, refurbishing Wellington House to a higher 
standard (grade B) to meet needs as far as possible within funding available, and to 
raise the value of the building for in future years.  Initial feasibility work suggests that 
the required workspace and meeting rooms could be accommodated within a 
refurbished Wellington House.  The next step is to progress to a detailed design, 
costs and plan to enable a final approval to be sought early in 2018 to commence 
works.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 The costs of the various accommodation options are:

 Option A: Sell up, stay in central Leeds - £1.8m pa increase in revenue costs.

 Option B: Sell up, split site - £1.1m pa increase in revenue costs.

 Option C: Sell up, single site not central Leeds - £0.6 – 0.8m pa increase in 
revenue costs.

 Option D: Refurbish, sell later – one-off capital cost of up to £4m.

 Option E: Let out Wellington House, move somewhere cheaper – costs as per 
Options B or C, depending on location, plus dilapidations work to Wellington 
House, unlikely to be offset by rental income for a lengthy period.

3.2 The recommended option D is expected to cost up to £4m.  This will enhance the 
utility of Wellington House to WYCA and increase its value as a saleable asset.  The 
cost will be expected to pay back in the longer term through ending lease payments 
for office space in City Exchange, or earlier if property values rise.  This is the lowest 
cost option spread over a five year period.

3.3 The costs of the refurbishment could be met from a combination of capital receipts, 
use of cash balances and reserves and savings against future lease costs – including 
the saving from not needing City Exchange.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 Planning restrictions may reduce the financial return that can be obtained from a sale 
of Wellington House, and this is factored into the estimated capital receipts.

5. Staffing Implications

5.1 Each option has impacts on WYCA employees.  WYCA terms and conditions state ‘You 
will be based in Leeds but your base location may be changed at the discretion of 
WYCA to anywhere in West Yorkshire.’  HR advice is that formal consultation will be 

80



required if a change of location is proposed as it is a change to term and conditions.  
Several employees have been based in Leeds for between 10 to 30 years and as such 
it is arguable it is an implied term of the contract that they are based in Leeds.  This 
situation does not prevent us from changing the location following consultation. 

6. External Consultees

6.1 West Yorkshire Chief Executives and the LEP chair have been consulted on this 
report.

7. Recommendations

7.1 That option D of retaining and investing in Wellington House, until its value rises 
sufficiently to get a return on the investment, is progressed to a detailed design, 
costs and plan, and that any constraints in the building could be overcome. That an 
immediate sum of up to £100k is made available from reserves to progress this work 
which will be subject to the WYCA Project Assurance processes. 

8. Background Documents

8.1 None.

81



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting held on 28 April 2017
	5 Employment & Skills
	Item 5 - Appendix 1

	6 Overview & Scrutiny Committee's SEP Delivery Working Group - Feedback and Recommendations
	7 Loan to Oxford GB2 (Leeds Hilton)
	8 WYCA Forward Plan
	Item 8 - Appendix 1

	9 WYCA Corporate Plan
	Item 9  - Appendix 1
	Item 9  - Appendix 2

	10 WYCA Brand Identity
	Item 10 - Appendix 1

	11 WYCA Accommodation Strategy
	Item 11 - Appendix 1


